
Y Pwyllgor Menter a Busnes 
 

Lleoliad: 
Ystafell Bwyllgora 3 - Y Senedd 

 

 

 

Dyddiad: 
Dydd Mercher, 28 Medi 2011  

 

Amser: 
09:30 

 

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth, cysylltwch a:  

Siân Phipps 
Clerc y Pwyllgor 
029 2089 8582 
Enterprise&business.comm@wales.gov.uk  
 

 

Agenda 
 

 

1. Cyflwyniadau, ymddiheuriadau a dirprwyon   

2. Ymchwiliad i adfywio canol trefi : Sesiwn dystiolaeth   
EBC(4)-03-11 Papur 1 
 
Dave Adamson; Prif Weithredwr, Canolfan Rhagoriaeth Adfywio Cymru 
Andrew Dakin; Dirprwy Brif Weithredwr, Canolfan Rhagoriaeth Adfywio Cymru 
  

3. Ymchwiliad i adfywio canol trefi : Sesiwn dystiolaeth   
EBC(4)-03-11 Papur 2 
 

Dr Tim Peppin; Cyfarwyddwr Adfywio a Datblygu Cynaliadwy, Cymdeithas Lywodraeth Leol 

Cymru  

Roger Tanner; Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili  

 

Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus



 

Enterprise and Business Committee 
Inquiry into the Regeneration of Town 

Centres: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A submission led by the Centre for Regeneration 
Excellence Wales 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Contact: 
Andrew Dakin 

Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
Centre for Regeneration Excellence Wales 
Ynysfach Engine House 

Ynysfach Rd 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1AG 

T: 01685389153 
M: 07876 757774 
Andrew.dakin@regenwales.org 

www.regenwales.org.uk  

Eitem 2

Tudalen 1



2 

 

Acknowledgements 
 
The submission of this response is founded on a programme of collaborative work over the 
last year which has examined the current challenge of regenerating the small towns of 
Wales.  This represents one of the major regeneration issues in the revitalisation of the 
Welsh economy.  CREW has been able to host discussions and events which have 
promoted debate and sharing of knowledge including a seminar in partnership with WISERD 
on the 7th April, 2011 and at CREW’s conference Regenerating Rural Wales: Policy and 
Practice on the 7th July.  CREW is grateful for the contributions of Jon Fox, Head of Built 
Environment at Capita Symonds and James Brown of Powell Dobson Urbanists for providing 
their expertise to both those events.  This dialogue has continued during the preparation of 
this submission along with discussion with the Regeneration Skills Collective Wales which is 
also making its own submission to the Inquiry.  CREW is in the process of establishing a 
‘study group’ to examine the subject of small towns in Wales and is grateful to all those who 
have expressed their interest in participation. 

 

            

Tudalen 2



3 

 

CONTENTS: 
 
 
Acknowledgements       2 
 
Background        4 
 
Towards a better future      7 
 
Conclusions and recommendations    8 
 
Specific responses to the Inquiry Questions   9 
 
  

Tudalen 3



4 

 

1. Background. 
 

The Enterprise and Business Committee is to be commended in respect of its inquiry’s area of 

interest and its timing as it provides a Welsh parallel to the Mary Portas report for the UK 

government on the rejuvenation of high streets which is due for completion later this autumn. 

 

There is currently a perceived crisis with regard to the future of the high street. Headlines provided 

in the national newspapers over the last two years, together with the recent publication of statistical 

data evidences this crisis. For example, The Guardian has suggested: 

 

 ‘My town (Machynlleth) is menaced by a superstore. So why are we not free to fight it off? 

(11.8.2009) 

 

 ‘The British high Street: RIP’ (22.1.2011) 

 

 ‘Austerity engulfs the high street. Thorntons joins growing list of casualties in a week of 

retail misery that could cost 10,000 jobs’ (29.6.2011). 

 

There are multiple reasons for this crisis in the high street, and indeed the crisis is also extending to 

the out of town retail sector.

 

There is in the first instance a short term crisis caused by the recession and public sector austerity 

measures and the associated reduction in consumer consumption. However, there is also both a 

medium and long term more “structural” crisis looming related to: 

 

  The competition which shopping via the internet produces.

 The need for increased local resilience in the face of continued future change such as 

anticipated fuel shortages and (and potentially the very increased cost of fuel) by 

2016.Hence how people are going to access retail and service facilities is going to become a 

much bigger issue in the future, as even internet shopping will be challenged by increased 

costs of distribution. 

   

CREW identified this current and impending crisis in 2010. Its response was to raise the level of 

awareness via public debate.  CREW’s recent seminar series with WISERD included a debate on the 

future of small town in Wales, and also the topic was covered at the recent CREW rural regeneration 

conference held in Mid Wales.  As a result of the very considerable interest in the subject (and 

particularly from regeneration practitioners) expressed at the WISERD and CREW series, CREW 

agreed to set up a ‘study group’ which will bring key stakeholders together in order to further 

discuss the salient issues and to propose solutions designed to stimulate public debate, and 

hopefully to facilitate specific action by both the public and private sectors. The study group is to be 

set up along similar lines to the ‘Town Centres and Local High Streets Learning Network’ established 

by the Scottish Centre for Regeneration in 2009. CREW welcomes this opportunity to provide 

comment to the subject enquiry in advance of the first meeting of the study group which is due to 

be arranged in the next few weeks. 

1.1. Why regenerate town centres?   

In the post war period in the UK, ‘stand alone’ retail schemes were widely promoted by the public 

sector to facilitate regeneration in declining urban centres. However, from the early 1990’s a more 

comprehensive approach was taken to regeneration based on the emerging concept of the 24 hour 

town and city. In a booming economy, it seemed possible to create major retail led developments in  

almost any town or city centre, linked to ready availability of finance for developers and shoppers 

Tudalen 4



5 

 

alike. Although many of these major developments were hailed as a success many practitioners 

questioned the real regeneration benefit. With hindsight it is easier to see that the success of the 

economy masked the impact on the resilience of smaller independent retailers and fundamentally 

changed the nature of many of our cities by privatising what was previously public space.  

 

In the current economy many physical regeneration projects are currently stalling due to restrictions 

on the availability of both public and private sector finance. Hence questions are now being asked as 

to why one would undertake the regeneration of towns and cities via the ‘conventional wisdom’ 

previously employed.  In short, questions are being asked about the long term sustainability of the 

conventional high street. Certainly in the short term, and with the majority of people having access 

to a motor car, and with potential access to the internet, shopping in the high street, as we have 

known it in the past, is considered by many commentators as suggested above to be in crisis.  

However, CREW fundamentally believes that vibrant town centres are a core requirement of a 

revitalised Welsh economy. 

1.2. UK and Wales. Relevant policy history. 

From the John Gummer years in the mid 1990s, central government endorsement for the 

regeneration of town centres gathered pace. The Labour government’s Urban Renaissance report of 

1999 promoted competitive and prosperous towns and cities with an aspiration to achieve a good 

quality of life; the Urban White Paper of 2000 affirmed the importance of stemming urban decline 

and facilitating an urban renaissance in towns and cities; and the ODPM Report, ‘State of the English 

Cities’ (2006) re-affirmed the need to pursue an urban agenda. In Wales, there has been an explicit 

acknowledgement by Welsh Government of the need to pursue economic development via for 

example,  the Economic Renewal plan of 2010, and prior to that  the ‘One Wales’ policy of 2007. 

However, no explicit intention has been confirmed in respect of pursuing town centre economic 

development and regeneration apart from within the Regeneration Areas. Conversely the WLGA 

(2009) representing all the 22 local authorities in Wales have confirmed their all-Wales commitment 

to sustainable regeneration and specifically town centre regeneration. 

 

1.3.  Why has there been a recent decline in town centres in the UK?  

 

 Too much retail space exists to service the current size of the UK economy. 

 Growth of internet trading. 

  General dispersal of population and employment from town centres, which has been a 

social and economic trend in both private and public property markets within the UK over 

the last 40 years. 

 De-industrialisation associated with economic globalisation. 

  The recent closure of some big name national multiples which has diminished confidence 

levels from both a retail supply and demand perspective (The Guardian, 22.1. 2011, The 

Guardian, 1.4.2011, and The Guardian, 29.6.2011). 

 Lack of an understanding within the public sector as to the importance of sustainable 

transport to facilitate connectivity between communities and their centres and mutually 

reinforcing retail centres (including between ‘in town’ and ‘out of town’ facilities). 

 Lack of resilience in the independent retail sector 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 5



6 

 

1.4. Characteristics and experience of the recent decline in the UK? 

 

 Vacant shops in town centres (NB an average of 11% across the UK in May 2011-see British 

Retail Consortium in Planning, 26.8.2011.But in some locations the figure is 15% and up to 

36% in archetypical secondary towns- Local Data Centre in The Guardian, 8. 9. 2011).  

 Shuttered and boarded-up shops. 

 Poorly maintained/derelict property. 

 Too many charity shops (NB not in itself bad, but an in-balance of retail uses can occasion 

decline within a discrete location) and too much quasi retail use e.g. amusement arcades, 

betting shops etc, can prevent an all important visual continuity in ‘browsing’ which can 

result in a poor shopping experience. 

 Poor quality public realm and poorly maintained public realm. 

 Lack of a relationship between national food stores and local producers/suppliers is 

characteristic of decline (NB this past strong relationship generated the characteristic 

‘market towns’ of the past). Conversely a strong two- way relationship has the potential to 

generate local loyalty in purchasing goods and services (The Guardian, 11.8.2009 and Urban 

Pollinators, February 2011) and to facilitate economic and environmental efficiency (The 

Guardian, 4.9.2010). 

 Homogenisation of identity (the Clone town affect- The Independent, 10.10 2007) 

occasioned by the power and dominance of the multiples has resulted in a loss of many 

town’s individual character, and their associated appeal to local shoppers and visitors. 

Continuing ‘churn’ and lack of occupational stability in the high street, particularly over the 

last three years. For examples, Planning, 28. 1. 2011: 

 

Bookmakers up by 5% 

Estate Agents down by 9% 

Job Agency down by 13% 

Building Society down by 28% 

 

And by way of further examples in the three years up to March 2011 (Planning, 3.6.2011): 

 

‘Pound shops’ up by 11% 

Charity shops up by 9% 

Pawnbrokers up by 44% 

Specialist food shops up by 10% (NB since March 2011-no earlier figures available). 

 

1.5. The Welsh experience of town centre decline.  

The Welsh experience of decline has mirrored what has happened in the wider UK, but in some ways 

it has been much more pronounced, for example: 

 

 Footfall down 9.2% in Wales. 

 Footfall down 1% in the UK. 

 Vacancies 13.4% in Wales. 

 Vacancies 11.2% in the UK. 

 

(British Retail Consortium-August 2011) 

 

This greater decline may be because many locations within Wales are coming from a much lower 

base than in other parts of the UK. In Wales many locations have already been struggling for the last 

Tudalen 6



7 

 

40 years with the cumulative economic, environmental and social effects of de-industrialisation and 

rural de-population decline. This is why improving urban centres in Wales has been recently 

described by one leading Welsh commentator, ‘as a never ending battle’ (Peter Mathias, Insider, 

8.4.2011). The existence of this ‘battle’ suggests considerable social and economic inefficiency. This 

represents a ‘drag’ on the functioning of a market economy, with an associated high cost to the 

‘public purse’.  

 

1.6. What has been done in Wales to respond to the decline? 

Over the last 20 years many towns in Wales have benefited from regeneration projects with a 

particular emphasis on environmental improvement. The approach has been ‘patchy’. For example: 

 Some towns have won competitions for their physical regeneration work. 

 Some towns have been the subject of repeated physical and community regeneration 

efforts. 

  Public sector regeneration finance made available to individual locations has been 

inconsistent in its scale, spread to thinly across too many projects and over too short a 

timescale. 

 The environmental improvement works that has been undertaken has been of very variable 

design quality and often simply used as a funding source to capitalise maintenance creating 

resurfaced town centres rather than redesigned town centres. 

 There has been a lack of applied strategy in the regeneration work undertaken and an 

inability to provide an appropriate regeneration response to the new structural contexts 

that have been recently emerging  

 A lack of agreed key performance indicators to define success, and a lack of enthusiasm for 

robust measurement of impact of expenditure on physical regeneration 

 

Generally any public sector led town centre regeneration initiatives have continued to be 

undermined by the countervailing force of new out of town development despite Welsh national 

planning policy and guidance. There is a  lack of flexibility and speed of response to the 

acknowledged structural challenges facing town centres both in forward planning by central and 

local government and within the Planning Inspectorate, may be part of the problem. 

1.7. Employment issues in Welsh towns 

Given the high incidence of people working in the public sector in Wales it is important that local 

town centres can provide employment in what should be a flourishing and entrepreneurial private 

sector. And given that towns are ‘local’ by nature, employment within these locations is significant 

having regard to reducing personal and corporate commuting cost etc with its wider and adverse 

environmental  effects.  

 

2. Towards a better future 
There is a consensus that town centre regeneration is a crucial component of better economic 

performance in Wales.  Revitalisation of town centres is a critical component of regional 

regeneration, potentially providing economic stimulus for the wider region.  Town centres can also 

offer mechanisms for providing more accessible public services and new models of service delivery 

which are better placed to reach service users.  Vibrant town centres deliver processes of social 

cohesion and social inclusion. 

2.1. Developing an ‘extended menu’? 

A number of influential commentators have suggested that given the potential changing function in 

the role town centres perform, it is important for the public sector to ‘plan ahead’ via the 

Tudalen 7



8 

 

preparation of  a new generation  of town centre regeneration strategies.  An extended ‘menu’ will 

have to be established, which assumes different future town centre land and property uses including 

health, residential, learning, and leisure facilities. Successful town centres are places people visit for 

a wide range of reasons beyond the retail function.  This ‘distinctiveness’ can help distinguish our 

towns from each other and provide the potential visitor with a variety of experiences which in their 

totality fundamentally support the retail function through increased visitor numbers and improved 

footfall. The key to making this new menu a reality will be to design and build flexibility in to how 

physical space can be used in the future. And its design will need to provide space (i.e. land and 

buildings) which can be easily and cheaply adapted to new uses, which may be likely to change with 

increasing frequency in the future. So for example, traditional market stalls might provide a retail 

offer but the same space (either indoors or outside) could be used for car parking, and events. This 

new flexible approach is likely to require land and buildings which are under the direct control of the 

public sector, and therefore capable of being made available for uses outside normal parameters of 

commercial value.  

 

In addition these new regeneration strategies will need to build in flexibility with regard to how 

access can be provided in the short, medium and long term for people wishing to enjoy a full range 

of retail and other consumption services beyond via the internet. In other words via ‘personal 

encounter’, which is an imperative of social efficiency and inclusion. 

 

3. Conclusions and recommendations: 
If Welsh Government is serious in its aspirations to maintain wealth creation and social efficiency in 

Wales it will need to respond to the serious and impending further decline in its town centres. Wales 

is not immune from the national problems of decline indicated above and indeed it is possibly even 

more vulnerable to the effects of these crisis conditions than many other parts of the UK, given its 

low economic base. Hence, a Welsh national policy and implementation programme to arrest the 

on-going decline of town centres is urgently required, involving a judicious combination of financial 

investment and stronger planning control in respect of out of town retail and commercial 

development. 

 

This national town centre investment programme would need to be negotiated with the EU to 

ensure that it can be financially supported in Wales via both ‘Competitive and Convergence’ area 

funding. Ideally it should have a proposed 10 year life and with the following approach and focus: 

 

 Be undertaken via linked regeneration strategies at regional, town and 

district/neighbourhood levels and within the context of a new Wales national Spatial Plan 

and investment framework and with a particular reference to public transport provision. It 

should follow completion of an evaluation with regard to what has worked and what hasn’t 

worked in the past in Wales (and in the wider UK) in respect of town centre regeneration. It 

should also identify targeted locations to be based on criterion of both need and 

opportunity. 

  With an emphasis on increasing employment ,both short and long term, in town centres 

and reducing worklessness in the surrounding areas  

 With an emphasis on increasing independent entrepreneurial retailing skills, and improving 

town centre management. 

 Via building on existing regeneration partnership arrangements between central 

government, local government and local Chambers of Trade. 

 With the direction of ‘housing grant’ from central government to RSL’s specifically to ‘above 

shop’ opportunities, and to facilitate the ‘shrinking back’ of vacant and over expanded retail 

cores, using new social housing, and particularly ‘live work’ units.   

Tudalen 8



9 

 

 With the introduction of new ‘gap funding’ measures to facilitate much needed private 

sector investment in retail and commercial schemes. 

 With new land assembly powers being available to speed up compulsory land acquisition, 

and particularly so as to be able to assemble town centre retail redevelopment schemes. 

 With a property leasehold initiative, whereby local government can support and financially 

subsidize local and niche traders. 

 With an emphasis on developing local purchasing networks and particularly food chains. 

  With an emphasis on all building and public realm improvement work being undertaken to a 

consistent high design quality and with an intention to create identity and ‘sense of place’. 

 With an emphasis on ‘green energy’ measures. 

 With bespoke PR and marketing campaigns designed to promote town centres in the 

broadest sense. 

 

Time and space does not permit a more detailed articulation with regard to the above. However 

CREW will be developing the specific proposals in more detail via the study group it is establishing, 

as indicated above. Once developed in detail, these proposals will be made publicly available in 

order to stimulate a much needed and wider debate within Wales. 

 

 

 

4. Specific responses to the Inquiry Questions 
 

4.1. The roles the Welsh Government and local authorities play in the regeneration of 

town centres 

Regeneration has three ‘foundation stones’ i.e. partnership, strategy, and sustainability (Parkinson, 

1996).There has been a history over the last 20 years in Wales of central government and local 

government working well together in both formal and informal partnerships to deliver the 

regeneration of  town centres. Given the need for an even more efficient use of scarce public sector 

financial resources in the future, there will be a particular need for parties to play to their strengths 

e.g. financial, managerial etc, if ‘more for less’ is to be achieved. For example, central government 

with regard to policy advice and strategy preparation, and local government with regard to local 

project delivery capacity. In this regard a new ‘separation of labour’ is required, to ensure that there 

is no duplication of effort. This is essential on the grounds of economic efficiency. 

4.2. The extent to which businesses and communities are engaged with the public sector 

led town centre regeneration projects or initiatives, and vice versa. 

The extent to which local business and social communities have been engaged with in the delivery of 

town centre regeneration has varied widely within Wales over the last 20 years. Some engagement 

has been via ‘action planning' ( Waites,1996) and Princes Foundation ‘enquiry by design’ style of 

processes, involving half day and one day formal consultation exercises. Other engagement has been 

of a much limited nature, and in some cases there has been none at all. The proposal above to 

develop a new generation of town centre regeneration strategies operating at linked spatial scales 

will need democratic endorsement via full engagement with local business and social communities 

and their representative body’s e.g. local community organisations, business clubs, and chambers of 

trade etc. 

Tudalen 9



10 

 

4.3. The factors affecting the mix of residential, commercial and retail premises found in 

town centres, e.g. the impact of business rates policy; footfall patterns and issues 

surrounding the night time and daytime economies within town centres.  

The generic affect of ‘dispersal’ in the UK has been to reduce the quantity of mixed uses available 

which otherwise might conglomerate in town centres. Enhanced planning control has the potential 

to control this dispersal and encourage retail, residential, leisure and commercial uses back in to 

town centres.  There is also an issue of how individual uses might be spatially arranged and 

connected in a town centre so as to be mutually reinforcing and to promote a town’s vitality and 

viability. Best regeneration practice if known and applied can achieve this. However both ‘regulation 

and persuasion’ (e.g. via business rate policies, financial inducement, planning control etc) will be 

required by the public sector to deliver this required new approach having regard to both townscape 

design and land and property use. 

4.4. The impact of out of town retail sites on nearby town centres. 

The generic experience across the UK is that out town retailing has had a detrimental effect on town 

centres. The position is no different in Wales, and in some cases it has been worse, given the 

desperation that has sometimes existed within the public sector to secure, ‘any new development of 

any description in any location’. The public sector’s imperative in Wales to support the private 

sector’s development proposals (via the grant of planning consents) is well understood. However, 

the grant of out of town development consents frequently undermines town centre regeneration 

which is being financially supported by the public sector. A new central and local government 

‘planning and regeneration regime’ is required, which effectively balances off competing priorities as 

to where development should be spatially supported and endorsed. A new Wales spatial plan could 

assist with regard to providing a rationale for providing a better ‘balancing’ of these competing 

priorities. 

4.5. The use of funding sources and innovative financial solutions to contribute to town 

centre regeneration – including the Regeneration Investment Fund for Wales; the use 

of Business Improvement Districts; structural funds; Welsh Government, local 

authority and private sector investment.  

Public sector funding needs to be employed to contribute to town centre regeneration, via available 

mainstream funding and via bespoke short term funding programmes e.g. via BIDS and utilising RIFW 

etc. However as suggested above, it is vital that a new national investment programme is developed  

which draws all potential  public sector funding streams together and which has at least a ten year 

life. Without this commitment it is unlikely that the private sector will have the confidence to gear 

up to take advantage of the commercial opportunities that will arise and provide the much needed 

private investment that is required. 

4.6. The importance of sustainable and integrated transport in town centres– including 

traffic management, parking and access.  

Best practice in the development of town centre regeneration strategies requires that sustainable 

and integrated transport plans will be incorporated. Unfortunately in some locations in Wales this 

has not been done, and hence other aspects of the regeneration strategies that have been delivered 

have been undermined by this key requirement, and as a result public sector funding has been 

wasted. To achieve this all important requirement in the future will need a greater cooperation 

between ‘delivery professionals’ e.g. town planners, urban designers and highway engineers etc. 

Fundamental   to this required greater cooperation will be ‘understanding and education’ which 

organisations such as the RSCW and CREW are seeking to promote and achieve. 

Tudalen 10



11 

 

4.7. The potential impact of marketing and image on the regeneration of town centres – 

such as tourism, signage, public art, street furniture, lighting and safety concerns.  

Marketing, branding and image making is a fundamental aspect of the regeneration of town centres. 

However, the quality in the design of what has been created in Wales with regard to lighting, 

signage, street furniture etc has been sometimes inconsistent with regard to both the brand  

proposed, the audience it was intended to serve ,and with regard to its sustainability .The new 

generation of town centre regeneration strategies proposed above needs to be developed having 

regard to a required new long term sustainable vision for appropriate local, regional and national 

‘brands’, and then all the ‘downstream’ detailed design decisions need to reflect this. Consistency of 

approach from the ‘macro to the micro’, and from ‘vision’ to ‘at the coal face project delivery’ is 

vital. ‘Implementation gaps’ with regard to both design and delivery must be avoided. 

4.8. The extent to which town centre regeneration initiatives can seek to provide greater 

employment opportunities for local people. 

As indicated above it is vital that local town centres provide local jobs. And as proposed above a new 

national investment programme should have this requirement as one of its principal aims. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 11



 

WLGA Evidence to the National 
Assembly for Wales’ Enterprise 
and Business Committee Inquiry 
into the Regeneration of Town 
Centres  
 

September 2011 

 

Enterprise and Business Committee 

EBC(4)-03-11 Paper 2 

28 September 2011 

Eitem 3

Tudalen 12



WLGA evidence to Enterprise and Business Committee 
Welsh Local Government Association – September 2011 

 

 

2 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1. The Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) represents the 22 local authorities in 

Wales, and the three national park authorities, the three fire and rescue authorities, 

and four police authorities are associate members.   

 

2. It seeks to provide representation to local authorities within an emerging policy 

framework that satisfies the key priorities of our members and delivers a broad range 

of services that add value to Welsh Local Government and the communities they 

serve. 

 

3. We very much welcome the invitation to respond to this very timely inquiry into the 

regeneration of town centres and look forward to the recommendations of the 

committee.  

 

4. Whilst compiling this response we have endeavoured to take on board the views of 

our member local authorities as well as aiming to provide a strategic overview on 

behalf of local government.  

 

Responses to the Terms of Reference  

 

(1) What approaches have been followed to successfully deliver and finance the 

regeneration of town centres in Wales? Are there lessons to be learned from 

elsewhere? 

 

5. Approaches to town centre regeneration have evolved over recent years and become 

more holistic and sophisticated. In the past, the approach tended to focus on physical 

and environmental works directly linked to the economic and commercial operation of 

the towns involved. In most cases these interventions were largely dependent on 

central government grant schemes. These grants (primarily capital) may have been 

supplemented by limited local authority resources, with the goal of 

attracting/unlocking private sector investment. 

 

6. Typically, in line with local planning provisions, this generated activities such as: 

• Grants for commercial improvement 

• Key buildings improvement 

• Site assembly and utilities co-ordination 

Tudalen 13



 

• Facilitation of new retail/commercial development  

• Transport enhancements 

• Car park provision 

 

7. This approach was shaped by the terms and conditions of the government grants 

available.  Over time in Wales there has been a succession of different 

programmes/funding regimes, each with its own requirements to access grant 

support.  On a Wales wide basis over the last thirty years we have seen the Urban 

Programme, the Strategic Development Scheme (SDS) and Capital Challenge, 

delegation of SDS funds to local authorities through ‘formula allocations’, Physical 

Regeneration Fund, Targeted Match Funding, the Strategic Capital Investment Fund, 

Strategic Regeneration Areas1 and the (loans based) Regeneration Investment Fund 

for Wales. Each has been supplemented by European programme funding in another 

series of programmes, again each with its own eligibility criteria. In addition, there 

have also been the Urban Development Corporation in Cardiff and Joint Venture 

approaches for certain town centres involving the former Welsh Development Agency. 

 

8. The level of evaluation of these different approaches has often been limited and new 

programmes have been introduced before there has really been time to understand 

the impact of the previous ones. Moreover, in light of the funding regimes in place at 

any one time, schemes have often had to be put together at pace with little 

consideration of lifetime costs and maintenance requirements. 

 

9. Studies of regeneration initiatives that have been undertaken (in particular evaluations 

of the Urban Programme, the Neighbourhood Renewal Programme in England and of 

Development Corporations) have highlighted the importance of a ‘rounded’ and 

sustainable approach. This means identifying the important contribution from other 

activities (especially social and community based) that can and need to be made to 

achieve successful, sustainable regeneration. Equally, town centre regeneration can 

make a contribution to other strategic objectives and it is important to identify and 

maximise these benefits through inclusive, forward planning. Local plans need to be 

consistent with wider area plans and form part of a long term programme to improve 

community resilience in the face of economic, environmental and social trends. 

 

                                                           
1
 There are 7 Regeneration Areas in the Welsh Government’s regeneration area programme as follows, all of 
which were created at different times and with different funding timescales: Heads of the Valleys, Môn a Menai; 
Western Valleys, North Wales Coast; Swansea; Barry and Aberystwyth.  

Tudalen 14



WLGA evidence to Enterprise and Business Committee 
Welsh Local Government Association – September 2011 

 

 

4 

10. Over and above any physical works, then, an appropriate mix of the following 

(customised to local circumstances) is increasingly seen as fundamental to a sound, 

sustainable approach to regeneration: 

• Community safety issues (including CCTV) 

• Events development and promotion – at a community level and to attract new 

visitors/tourists 

• Marketing of the local ‘offer’ 

• Town centre management and support for local traders 

• Quality public spaces with good information and signposting, public art works etc 

• A coherent national, regional and local spatial planning framework that steers the 

component parts of regeneration to the right places, with supplementary planning 

guidance for specific schemes 

• Integrated public transport, pedestrianisation and other provision for active 

transport (cycling and walking) and personalised travel planning to encourage use 

of alternatives to the car  

• Heritage and conservation and tourism opportunities 

• Use of locally sourced materials and labour both in construction and as part of the 

retail offer (e.g. farmers’ markets, local arts and crafts) 

• Development and support of local service and supply chains  

• Community engagement mechanisms 

• Involvement of schools and young people  

• Access and disability issues (physical access, bilingual signage and interpretation 

etc) 

• Flood alleviation measures etc 

 

11. For the above to work effectively an appropriate package of finance needs to be 

assembled. This has resulted in more innovative approaches that attempt to 

synchronise multiple funding streams. As well as the ‘mainstream’ regeneration 

funding this could therefore involve: 

• European funding – Convergence; Competitiveness, Rural Development Fund 

• Big Lottery funding, including People and Places 

• Heritage lottery 

• Arts Council  

• Community safety budgets 

• Transport funds 

• Communities First  

• Business support grants 

• Funds for flood prevention schemes 

Tudalen 15



 

• Housing Renewal Area environmental funds  

• Sustainable procurement policies and use of local benefits clauses. 

 

12. In addition, borrowing and loans are increasingly being considered as well as grants. 

Importantly too, the need for revenue funding to support regeneration projects (e.g. 

especially in relation to support for community engagement) is much better 

understood. However, it remains the case that funding for regeneration (e.g. in the 

Regeneration Areas) is often too heavily capital based. 

 

13. A major problem faced in attempting to adopt an holistic approach is that the different 

funding sources invariably target different geographic areas and therefore an area 

may be eligible for some but not all of the above (e.g. there are 44 areas designated 

as ‘deprived’ under Priority 5 theme 1, physical regeneration, of the ERDF 

Convergence Programme for West Wales and the Valleys which do not completely 

align with Welsh Government designated ‘Regeneration Areas’ or the communities 

included in the Communities First Programme; there are 18 local authority areas 

supported under the European funded Rural Development Plan for Wales). Moreover, 

each of the funding sources has its own priorities, administration, management and 

funding structures. Whilst this is inevitable to some extent, the situation could be 

improved by having a clearer national framework for regeneration and greater 

coherence in the funding that is available. 

 

14. We are currently awaiting further details of the soon to be established Single Capital 

Infrastructure Fund, to be set up by the Welsh Government following a commitment in 

the Labour Party Manifesto for the National Assembly elections in May. We would 

welcome a discussion with the Welsh Government on their proposals for this Fund as 

soon as possible, to ensure that it builds on learning from previous approaches. 

Furthermore, in light of the 41% cut in the Welsh Government’s capital budgets over 

the next three years there is an urgent need to consider alternative funding models 

and solutions. It is vital that local government is involved in the formative stages of 

the development of new policies and funding schemes and not presented with a 

‘consultation’ at the end of a process where the scope for change is limited. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 16



WLGA evidence to Enterprise and Business Committee 
Welsh Local Government Association – September 2011 

 

 

6 

Lessons to be learned from elsewhere 

 

15. It is not always possible or sensible to transfer models from elsewhere. They need to 

be appropriate to the Welsh context and economic circumstances. Some of the 

approaches in England depend on opportunities for private sector developers to make 

large scale, profitable investments which simply do not exist in the same way in many 

parts of Wales beyond the largest commercial centres. 

 

16. For example, there are Local Asset Backed Vehicles, where the public sector and 

private sector join forces within a particular area in a joint venture. The public sector 

puts in physical assets and the private sector brings in capital. However, these are 

legally very complex and costly to implement. This is likely to place them beyond the 

resources of most Welsh local authorities. There may be options for local authorities to 

work collaboratively with the Welsh government and other interested parties to 

investigate the establishment of LABVs on a regional basis, though. 

 

17. An innovative funding model being developed in England and Scotland is the 

Accelerated Development Zone, based on Tax Increment Financing (TIF). TIF 

allows local authorities to retain some of the growth in business rates revenue 

generated by developments in a specific geographic area which have been unlocked 

by initial infrastructure investment. The initial capital funding can be provided by 

increased prudential borrowing by the local authority. The Scottish Government’s 

infrastructure investment body, Scottish Futures Trust (SFT) has already approved 

three pilot TIF projects and plans to approve a further three pilots by the end of this 

financial year. Among the current submissions for approval is a plan centred on a city 

centre regeneration scheme by Aberdeen City Council and a submission by Falkirk 

Council to use TIF to kick start developments at various sites in their area. 

 

18. As above, there are concerns that this approach works best in areas where there is 

greatest market potential. However, WLGA would welcome a dialogue between the 

Welsh Government, local government and other partners on the best way to take 

forward this issue in Wales. 

 

19. In Scotland, a town centre regeneration (capital) fund of £60m was made available 

from 2009/10. Although the funding scheme has ceased, it is of interest to identify 

good practice and learning from the projects undertaken. A Town Centre and Local 

High Streets learning network was established by the Scottish Government, developed 

by the Scottish Centre for regeneration. 

Tudalen 17



 

(2) How does the Welsh Government use the levers at its disposal to assist in  

 the regeneration of town centres in Wales? 

 

20. The levers the Welsh Government has to assist in the regeneration of town centres cut 

across a number of different departments2. WLGA welcomed the proposed general 

direction of travel in the Welsh Government’s Economic Renewal Policy, announced 

last year, regarding the need for a whole government approach to economic renewal 

and regeneration. In light of the way regeneration has now been split between at least 

7 Ministers there is an urgent need for this to be realised with effective cross-

departmental joined-up thinking and action.  

 

21. As a result, the need for the Welsh Government to outline an overall framework for 

economic renewal and regeneration is now greater than ever. This should explain how 

all the different economic renewal and regeneration strategies fit together and 

complement each other so that their programmes and funding streams are better 

aligned and in order to maximise their impact. 

 

22. The Welsh Government has many different levers at its disposal to assist in the 

regeneration of town centres, from policies and actions around procurement, skills and 

planning. What is needed is to ensure that the regeneration benefits and effects of its 

decisions around these policy areas are maximised. For example, its procurement 

policies and guidelines should make it as easy as possible to encourage the use of 

social clauses to encourage local sourcing of services and labour. Its current 

consideration of planning for sustainable economic renewal should make it easier for 

local authorities to improve planning for economic renewal. 

 

23. One of the key levers not currently available to the Welsh Government is the ability to 

borrow money. We would support the Welsh Government in seeking its own 

borrowing powers. Combined with the borrowing powers of local authorities, there 

would be a significant opportunity to invest in capital infrastructure projects, including 

town centre regeneration developments, as cuts to capital budgets start to take effect. 

 

                                                           
2 It is important to recognise too, the point made above that the levers work in both directions, with social and 

environmental returns on investment as well as economic. Efforts directed at successful, well managed town 

centres can help to address and prevent problems of social exclusion and environmental damage. This may be 

through attracting private sector investment, supporting small local businesses, providing an outlet for locally 

produced goods, creating job and training opportunities, reducing congestion and pollution, reducing flood 

risk, using ‘urban greening’ schemes to provide natural cooling, wind breaks etc. They can, therefore, reduce 

the need for use of other, remedial levers and their associated expenditure so that the investment in town 

centres helps to ‘pay for itself’.  

Tudalen 18



WLGA evidence to Enterprise and Business Committee 
Welsh Local Government Association – September 2011 

 

 

8 

(3) How are the interests and activities of communities, businesses, local 

 authorities and Welsh Ministers identified and coordinated when developing  

 and implementing town centre regeneration projects? 

 

24. Most local authorities facilitate and support Regeneration Partnerships within their 

areas which bring together representatives from the public, community, voluntary and 

private sector to discuss and develop ideas and initiatives. Most of them have 

developed Local Regeneration Strategies with specific actions and initiatives, such as 

town centre regeneration projects, forming part of their strategies. 

 

25. In terms of specific town centre regeneration projects most will have a Steering Group 

of all the key stakeholders to oversee and help drive the delivery of the project. 

Council newsletters, town and community councils, residents’ and tenants’ associations 

and (where relevant) Communities First Partnerships can all help in ensuring a two 

way flow of information with local residents. Similarly, chambers of commerce/trade 

and the Federation of Small Businesses can help in maintaining dialogue with local 

businesses. 

 

26. Since the demise of the Welsh Development Agency and the loss of decision making 

and funding at the regional level within the previous Welsh Government Department 

for the Economy and Transport (and the centralisation of economic development and 

regeneration policy and funding decisions in Cardiff) the missing link in most local 

regeneration partnerships has often been the Welsh Government. Even when an 

official is able to attend they are not always in a position to make any kind of funding 

commitments or decisions. 

 

Responses to the specific issues  

 

(1) The roles the Welsh Government and local authorities play in the 

regeneration of town centres 

 

27.  The key roles for Welsh Government are (or should be) as follows: 

• providing an overall national policy and strategic framework that recognises town 

centres’ role in regeneration, provides clarity in relation to planning and 

acknowledges the different range of issues facing urban and rural areas 

                                                                                                                                                                                                    
 

Tudalen 19



 

•  developing a supportive (and innovative) funding framework at the national level to 

help finance schemes (including gap and ‘pump prime’ funding) 

• streamlined programmes with common administrative and management systems 

(e.g. the management of all relevant future EU funding programmes should be 

incorporated into one division; it should be possible to make a single application for 

funding that covers European funding and match funding from the Targeted Match 

Funding pot)   

• acting as a facilitator and enabler of regeneration through the legal and financial 

measures (e.g. business rate relief) over which it has influence and through the 

provision of expertise and advice. 

 

28. Key roles for local authorities include (or could include): 

• creating an attractive environment for business investment through the 

development of local town centre plans within the context of the Local 

Development Plan. Having an up to date development plan brings clarity to 

investors about the future shape and scope of town centres which facilitates 

greater investment. Indeed, there is evidence to suggest a link between economic 

growth and the existence of an up to date plan3. The WLGA will continue to work 

with local planning authorities to ensure there is full plan coverage across Wales at 

the earliest date 

• ensuring plans are coherent and complementary across local authorities in the 

wider region and in line with national plans (e.g. Wales Spatial Plan or, preferably, 

a new National Infrastructure Plan) 

• community leadership and co-ordination of inputs of local partners, forging an 

holistic approach that incorporates the issues listed on page 4 (above) and brings 

together a wide range of service inputs from local government4 and partners  

                                                           
3
 Recent research commissioned by the Welsh Government by Roger Tym & Partners looking into the 

relationship between economic growth an planning included the following key recommendations: 

• The need to refresh economic development national planning policy supported by a new technical 

advice note 

• The provision of a central economic information resource to inform the evidence base for LDPs and 

development management decisions 

• Closer working between planning and economic development functions at the local level, with 

economic development teams playing a greater role in LDP preparation and providing advice on 

planning applications for economic uses 

• The need for businesses to do more to identify and promote the economic value of development 

through both LDP and development management processes 

• The requirement for a new strategic planning arrangement at above local planning authority level. 

The WLGA supports these ambitions and looks forward to working with the Welsh Government on these 

matters. 

 
4
 e.g. planning, transport, community development, procurement, education and training, environmental 

services, care services, ICT, legal and financial expertise 

Tudalen 20



WLGA evidence to Enterprise and Business Committee 
Welsh Local Government Association – September 2011 

 

 

10 

• insisting on good quality design for specific schemes 

• ensuring ongoing oversight of the town centres through town centre management 

and by having maintenance regimes in place 

• using borrowing powers to lever in additional resource from the private sector (an 

area worthy of further exploration) 

 

29. Welsh Government and local authorities need to recognise each other’s roles and 

respective contributions and local authorities need to be treated as equal partners in 

the development and delivery of interventions. 

 

Local Authorities working with the Welsh Government to deliver successful town 

centre regeneration projects 

 

30. There is no doubt that in order to maximise the opportunities for regenerating our 

town centres all key partners need to be involved. Over recent years this has worked 

on a regional and sub-regional basis in some instances. For example, within the ERDF 

Convergence Programme for West Wales and the Valleys the four local authorities in 

North West Wales worked with their then regional Department for the Economy and 

Transport (DET) colleagues on developing and delivering a package of physical 

regeneration projects. Similarly, the six local authorities in the South East Valleys 

worked with their regional DET colleagues in developing and delivering a series of 

town centre regeneration packages. On a sub-regional level local authorities are key 

players in the development and delivery of projects within the 7 Regeneration Areas 

with the Welsh Government providing a facilitating and supporting role. 

 

31. Such joint working between local authorities and the Welsh Government on a regional 

and sub-regional level is beneficial as it can lead to a shared understanding and view 

of where regeneration interventions should be focused and develop shared 

approaches to good practice and evaluation and can provide greater efficiency and 

effectiveness. Further, by working within a wider area all local authorities can benefit 

from utilising the wider expertise available to them. 

 

32. In the current financial climate, and in the context of the Simpson review and 

increased regional collaboration there is no doubt that there will be further joint 

working between local authorities and the Welsh Government on a regional and sub-

regional level. What is urgently needed, however, as referred to above, is clarity from 

the Welsh Government regarding how their economic renewal and regeneration 

programmes and funding streams complement each other so that the rules of 

Tudalen 21



 

engagement for key partners such as local authorities are clear. 

 

(2) The extent to which businesses and communities are engaged with the 

public sector led town centre regeneration projects or initiatives, and vice versa 

 

33. Most local authorities facilitate and support local Regeneration Partnerships that bring 

together representatives from public, business, voluntary and community sectors to 

discuss and develop initiatives. Most of them have developed local regeneration 

strategies with specific actions and initiatives including their town centre regeneration 

projects. 

 

34. Many town centres will have a local authority employed Town Centre manager and a 

management committee or steering group on which local stakeholders (e.g. local 

chamber of commerce/trade, retail representatives, residents’ associations, town and 

community councils) are represented. 

 

35. The extent of engagement tends to vary from place to place and over time. However, 

the holistic approach to town centre regeneration outlined above requires active 

engagement with local stakeholders to ensure that plans and practices are sustainable. 

Increasingly, as electronic means of communication and use of social media become 

more important, there is a need to develop and maintain dialogue with business and 

community interests through such channels. 

 

(3)  The factors affecting the mix of residential, commercial and retail premises 

 found in town centres – for example, the impact of business rates policy; 

 footfall patterns and issues surrounding the night-time and daytime 

 economies within town centres. 

 

36. The factors affecting the mix of residential, commercial and retail premises will vary in 

each unique location. However, the following general influences will have an impact in 

all areas: 

• population change and demographic trends – e.g. a declining catchment 

population; changes in demand for goods and services arising from the growth of 

single person households and an ageing population; changing ethnic composition 

• local planning policies - which set out acceptable land uses in different parts of 

a settlement 

Tudalen 22



WLGA evidence to Enterprise and Business Committee 
Welsh Local Government Association – September 2011 

 

 

12 

• societal / behavioural / lifestyle changes – e.g. changes in shopping 

patterns; uses of leisure time; fashions 

• market forces, competition and economic trends – affecting who is prepared and 

able to pay the most for particular sites and also determining where employment 

growth (service sector) and decline are taking place  

• technological changes (e.g. new products and services; increased use of on line 

shopping and mobile communications) 

• licensing policies – will influence the number and concentration of certain 

activities such as pubs and off licences 

• availability of financial incentives (e.g. business rate relief) 

• level of town centre management activity – a co-ordinated approach is more 

likely to deliver results in any attempt to promote a town through marketing, 

events, promotion of a particular local theme etc.  

• transport costs – the long term trend of increasing oil prices will influence 

choices over commuting and shopping patterns and, in time, could lead to 

revitalisation of town centres if they are the focus of service sector employment 

growth, potentially leading to greater demand for residential accommodation and 

increased use of public transport and /or park and ride for shopping trips. It could 

also lead to a change in the practices of the supermarkets whose ‘just-in-time’ 

delivery and low stockholding practices are transport intensive 

• linked to the previous point are concerns over food security – as demand for food 

and prices rise globally, the revival of locally produced and marketed food is likely 

to continue to gather pace. This could have an impact on the retail offer.  

 

(4)  The impact of out-of-town retail sites on nearby town centres. 

 

37. There is no doubt that the development of out-of-town retail sites over the last few 

years has had a detrimental effect on many town centres across Wales. The greater 

ease of (free) parking, avoidance of town centre congestion and ability to carry a wide 

range of products in large stores has made out of town development popular with the 

general public. Although government policy has sought to protect town centres local 

authorities working in accordance with the national policy have nevertheless often 

found it hard to resist pressure for out of town development. There has been a loss of 

Tudalen 23



 

the ‘positive externalities’ (outlined on page 4 above) associated with town centres as 

many have lost their vibrancy and gone into decline. 

 

38. Existing Planning Policy Wales guidance needs to be looked at as part of the refresh 

currently taking place of economic development national planning policy, to ensure 

that the policy context helps to deliver appropriate outcomes.  Differential business 

rates between town centres and out of town developments might be one option along 

with other measures (e.g. in Scotland there has been one suggestion for local 

authorities to be given powers to charge for car parking at out of town locations, using 

the proceeds to support town centres). Looking ahead, anticipated increases in the 

cost of car travel as oil prices rise could provide a market force encouraging a return 

to town centre shopping. 

 

5. The use of funding sources and innovative financial solutions to contribute  

 to town centre regeneration – including the Regeneration Investment  

 Fund for Wales; the use of Business Improvement Districts; structural  

 funds; Welsh Government, local authority and private sector investment 

 

39. In light of 41% reduction in the Welsh Government capital budget over next 3 years 

there is an urgent need to be creative and innovative in maximising alternative 

financial solutions. The WLGA is encouraging local authorities to consider these 

options, for example a workshop was held during our annual conference in June this 

year and these options will be explored further at our Local Authority Regeneration 

Cabinet Members annual event in November. The WLGA is also involved in work 

undertaken by the Local Government Association for England and Wales in 

understanding the potential benefits of local authorities raising capital finance through 

issuing bonds. 

 

40. The WLGA is also involved in discussions around alternative sources of finance with 

Welsh Government officials in the Capital Finance and Investment Sub Group of the 

Consultative Forum on Finance, which sits under the Partnership Council. 

 

41. The Regeneration Investment Fund for Wales (RIFW), based on the European 

JESSICA finance model, is yet to make its first investments in Wales. In its current 

form, without the ability to provide equity funding, this does not seem to be an 

attractive option for local authorities as it is cheaper for them to borrow money via 

prudential borrowing. Further, the complexity of the Fund, and its emphasis on large 

urban development opportunities, is not best suited to the needs and circumstances of 

Tudalen 24



WLGA evidence to Enterprise and Business Committee 
Welsh Local Government Association – September 2011 

 

 

14 

Wales with our smaller urban and rural conurbations. However, this Fund has the 

potential to provide the necessary gap finance to progress a number of town centre 

regeneration projects across Wales and every effort should be made to ensure that is 

realised. That could well involve making the Fund more relevant for the Welsh context 

and learning the lessons from other small nations and regions which have developed 

other models. 

 

42. There is currently only one Business Improvement District operating in Wales, in 

Swansea. Our view is that although this model would suit other large cities in Wales, 

such as Cardiff, it would not suit the majority of smaller town centres. As a result, as 

mentioned above, we would encourage the development and adoption of other 

models, such as Accelerated Development Zones, based on utilising financial options 

such as Tax Increment Financing, as is currently been progressed in a number of 

English and Scottish local authority areas. 

 

43. Funding from the current European Structural Funds ERDF Programmes for Wales, via 

the Physical Regeneration theme in the Convergence Programme and Regeneration 

for Growth priority in the Competitiveness Programme, has proved vital in progressing 

a number of public sector led town centre regeneration schemes. The continuation of 

the ability to use such funding in the future European Structural Fund Programmes for 

Wales Post 2013 is more important than ever in light of the scale of the reduction in 

Welsh Government capital budgets over future years. 

 

44. In order to maximise future European Funds for Wales it will also be vital that the 

Welsh Government continues to provide gap funding resources, such as in a reformed 

Targeted Match Funding pot, to local authorities. 

 

45. The Welsh Government also needs to streamline and better align all funding streams 

available for supporting their economic renewal and regeneration strategies in order to 

maximise their impact. Further, both the Welsh Government and local authorities need 

to explore how to maximise the regeneration outputs of their wider mainstream 

funding programmes, such as those in the education, skills, social services, transport 

and environment areas. 

 

46. Due to the nature of market failure in many of Wales’ communities there will still need 

to be continued public sector intervention, but, there is also an increasing need to 

lever in resources from the private sector in order to transform our town centres into 

viable and sustainable places to live, work and enjoy. 

Tudalen 25



 

(6)  The importance of sustainable and integrated transport in town centres –  

 including traffic management, parking and access 

 

47. There is a clear link between dependence on the car for shopping trips and the growth 

of out of town retail developments. As car ownership has increased, competition for 

parking spaces in town centres has grown and the introduction of car parking charges 

in many places has reduced their attraction. The advent of out of town developments 

offering free parking, usually accessed from major highways avoids the congestion of 

town centres and has led to a major shift in shopping patterns. 

 

48. Moreover, changes in shopping behaviour have resulted in major shopping trips to 

stock up with a ‘boot full’ of goods for a period of days. This has reduced the 

attraction of public transport, cycling or walking which are more suited to frequent 

visits and smaller quantities, which an individual can sensibly carry by hand. This 

limitation on quantities means that even if there are first class, integrated public 

transport facilities (or park and ride) and good, safe provision for walkers and cyclists 

to and from town centres, the attraction of car based shopping is likely to continue in 

the short to medium term. Reinstatement of free or cheaper parking in town centres is 

an option some councils are trialling and this may provide a temporary boost. 

Decriminalised parking enforcement is a double-edged issue: whilst it may help to 

avoid congestion by deterring double parking and to ease parking, by ensuring a 

turnover of spaces, it can also lead to avoidance of town centres as the risk of 

incurring a parking fine increases. 

 

49. Looking ahead, increasing petrol prices could result in a reconsideration of lifestyles 

and commuting patterns. With these could come a change in shopping patterns. On 

the one hand this could involve increased use of on line shopping but on the other it 

could also see a revival in small scale, frequent shops – especially if trends in terms of 

the local production and sale of foodstuffs continue. Indeed, a mixture of the two 

could prove popular for some non-bulky items with ‘click and collect’ shopping on line 

followed up by collection at the town centre at a convenient time. 

 

50. Indeed, mobile communications open up a range of possibilities that could support 

changes in shopping patterns. For example, developments such as the Traveline 

Cymru mobile phone application which enables users to call up bus times for the 

nearest bus stop, empowers potential bus travellers who might  otherwise have felt 

uneasy about having the necessary information to make a trip. Development such as 

Bwcabus in rural areas, providing a demand responsive, fully accessible bus service 

Tudalen 26



WLGA evidence to Enterprise and Business Committee 
Welsh Local Government Association – September 2011 

 

 

16 

can also support town centres by bringing shoppers to local community hubs. There is 

speculation that ‘car clubs’ could grow in popularity in coming years, especially in 

urban areas. Rather than bearing all the on costs of running a car, joining a car club 

could provide an attractive, cheaper alternative, using an energy efficient vehicle as 

and when required. With pick up points concentrated in town centres this could also 

provide a boost to town centre shopping. 

 

51. The above suggests that there are both ongoing trends and steps that government 

(central and local) can take to make investment in sustainable transport worthwhile 

and beneficial to town centres. However, until town centre shopping is made 

demonstrably easier, cheaper and more pleasant than the out of town experience the 

demand for ‘shopping at sheds’ will continue. A concerted and co-ordinated effort on a 

number of fronts, complemented by heavy promotion and publicity aimed at behaviour 

change, will be needed as modal shift is otherwise unlikely. 

 

(7)  The potential impact of marketing and image on the regeneration of town  

 centres – such as tourism, signage, public art, street furniture, lighting and  

 safety concerns 

 

52. Local Authorities play a key role in all of the above which are central to creating a 

unique sense of place where the overall attractiveness and feel of a location increases 

the confidence required for local economic resilience and for attracting investment and 

participation. 

 

53. The six local authorities in North Wales submitted proposals to the previous Welsh 

Government’s Department for the Economy and Transport to allocate some of the 

funding from the newly created Regional Priority Fund to enable improvements of the 

region’s town centres through the development and implementation of projects in 

partnership with the private sector which, according to local circumstances and need 

would support: 

• market research and promotion  

• small scale public realm improvements  

• minor transport improvements  

• cosmetic improvements to the physical appearance of key buildings  

• the provision of specialist advice to town centre businesses. 

 

54. The six local authorities in North Wales are still waiting to hear from officials in the 

new Business, Enterprise, Technology and Science (BETS) Department in the Welsh 

Tudalen 27



 

Government whether their proposal is likely to be awarded any funding from the 

Regional Priority Fund, decisions of which have been delayed due to the new Minister’s 

imminent statement on the direction of travel for economic renewal policy in Wales, 

expected during the middle of September when the National Assembly returns from 

recess. There is concern that this delay, which is also affecting proposals from local 

authorities in other regions across Wales, will make it extremely challenging to spend 

any of the funding allocated by the Regional Priority Fund for this financial year. 

 

55. The variety of factors that combine to create a town’s image emphasise the need for 

an holistic approach to regeneration. Furthermore, the need for each town’s offer to 

be complementary (and not in direct competition) to its neighbours is fundamental to 

long term sustainability. Using (or developing) local features to create a different 

sense of place can make an important contribution to this. 

 

(8)  The extent to which town centre regeneration initiatives can seek to  

 provide greater employment opportunities for local people. 

 

56. There are many examples of where town centre regeneration initiatives seek to 

provide greater employment opportunities for local people, mainly around the inclusion 

of social, community and sustainability clauses in procurement contracts. The City and 

County of Swansea, for example, has introduced an initiative to secure social benefits 

from procurement and regeneration activity under the heading of ‘Beyond Bricks and 

Mortar’. By introducing clauses such as Targeted Recruitment and Training into legal 

contracts, the aim is to ensure that members of the community, especially young 

people and those who have been out of employment for some time, are given the 

opportunities of meaningful training and employment. We are encouraging other local 

authorities to adopt similar initiatives. 

 

57. Further, we are encouraging and supporting more sustainable and holistic approaches 

towards town centre regeneration, which, by their integrated nature focus on people 

and places. As a result most town centre regeneration initiatives developed across 

Wales now focus on creating employment opportunities for local people, on assisting 

local people to secure those opportunities as well as the more traditional physical 

improvements. 

 

 

.  

 

Tudalen 28



WLGA evidence to Enterprise and Business Committee 
Welsh Local Government Association – September 2011 

 

 

18 

 

Recommendations  

 

Measures to evaluate success of initiatives to regenerate town 

centres  

 

1. We would recommend that the evaluation framework developed by 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, and followed by other local 

authorities across the South East Wales Valleys, is shared as good practice 

in evaluating the success of regeneration town centre initiatives across 

Wales.  

 

2. This framework will be used in developing a range of indicators, setting 

targets, measuring progress and evaluating performance. It involves 

gathering data from primary, secondary and survey sources and working 

with a range of community and business stakeholders. It can be tailored to 

the specific needs and circumstances of individual town centre initiatives.  

 

Other recommendations  

 

1. National regeneration objectives  should be clearly set out, including a 

coherent set of geographically targeted areas (looking at areas of 

opportunity as well as need, and the potential links between them – 

physical, training and information/ICT). This could usefully inform the 

development of a National Infrastructure Plan. Regeneration initiatives and 

funding should then use this as the basis for support and procedures that 

have to be followed to secure funding should be aligned as far as is possible 

to avoid the need for multiple applications. 

 

2. Welsh Government and local government officials should be tasked via the 

Capital Finance and Investment Sub Group of the Consultative Forum on 

Finance to consider the following key issues:  

 - How best to maximise borrowing powers (both Welsh Government, 

assuming that they will get these powers soon, and existing local 

government borrowing powers) for the benefits of sustainable 

investments in regeneration projects across Wales;  

Tudalen 29



 

 - the development of the new Single Capital Infrastructure Fund for 

Wales; 

 - the potential for a collaborative approach to Local Asset Backed 

Vehicles 

 - engagement with the Scottish Government’s Infrastructure 

Investment Body, Scottish Futures Trust (SFT) to develop an 

understanding of their initiatives and what lessons could be learned 

in terms of adopting similar initiatives in Wales (for example, their 

approach to Tax Increment Financing).  

 

3. Physical Regeneration activity and interventions, and the necessary gap 

funding such as a revised Targeted Match Funding pot, should be retained 

in the next round of European Funded Programmes for Wales Post 2013.  

 

4. For the next European Funded programming period of 2014–2020, the 

Welsh Government should incorporate the management of relevant EU 

funding programmes into one division in order to streamline and integrate 

the administration and management of the funds. That way, key delivery 

partners such as local government will only have to deal with a single, 

more streamlined process, thus improving resource efficiency and 

effectiveness on the ground and maximising funding potential. 

 

 

 
For further information please contact: 

 

Lowri Gwilym and Tim Peppin 

lowri.gwilym@wlga.gov.uk and tim.peppin@wlga.gov.uk  
 

Welsh Local Government Association 

Local Government House 

Drake walk 

Cardiff 

CF10 4LG 

 

Tel: 029 2046 8676 and 029 2046 8669 

 

Tudalen 30


	Agenda
	2 Ymchwiliad i adfywio canol trefi : Sesiwn dystiolaeth
	3 Ymchwiliad i adfywio canol trefi : Sesiwn dystiolaeth

